
1. Town Hall ï 12 Market Square 
 

 

Circa 1856 

The Town Hall, located at 124 John St. Market Square, was erected in 1856 and, today, is an 

enduring symbol of the development of local government in the 19th century. Town Hall is an 

early example of a combination town hall and market, an arrangement popular in Ontario before 

1870. The noted Kingston architect Edward Horsey was responsible for the building's simple, 

yet civic image. With its dual function and its prominent location, this structure has remained a 

centre of community life. Several of Sir John A. Macdonald's documented speeches have been 

made here, including his campaign speech, presented by Macdonald from the balcony of Town 

Hall on January 13, 1882, as well as his last Town Hall speech on February 2, 1891. In 1928, an 

extended pediment, with roundel detailing and Doric columns was added, heightening the 

resemblance to a classic Greek temple. 

  

Next, head across the street to the Former Site of the Paisley Hotel. 

 

2. Former Site of the Paisley Hotel ï Across from 
Town Hall in the Vacant Parking Lot 

 

Circa 1870 

Charles Paisley (1826-1879) purchased a wooden saloon on the site and replaced it with a 

three-storey brick building known as the Paisley. 

For a while, the hotel was known as ñThe Huffman Houseò after Peter Huffman who managed 

the property for the Paisleys in the 1880's. During this time, the dining room was enlarged, and 

a new kitchen, wood house and rooms were added. The hotel was one of the finest hotels in 

town. During the election of 1882, Sir John and Lady Macdonald were provided with apartments 

at the Paisley from June 12 - June 20. 

In 1890, first class rooms were available for $1.50/day. The hotel had a reputation for 



sumptuous fare. In 1905, John Pratt's Christmas dinner offered delicacies including oyster soup, 

lobster salad, ox tongue, English Plum Pudding with brandy sauce and MacLaren cheese. 

The Paisley remained in the family until 1919 but had various proprietors after Charles died. 

Elizabeth Paisley sold the building to Harvey Warner whose estate sold it to John Hugh 

Fitzpatrick. During the 1930's and 1940's, the Fitzpatrick's established a reputable hostelry 

known for crisp white tablecloths and generous Sunday dinners. Soldiers said goodbye to wives 

and children in the cheery dining room. The Fitzpatrick's ran the hotel for 22 years. 

 

Now, if you look next door, you'll see the site of the Former Dominion Bank. 

 

3. Former Dominion Bank ï Beside the Vacant Lot 
 

Circa 1864 

The Dominion Bank opened in January 1878 opposite the Town Hall on the east side of John 

Street. In 1891, the bank signed a lease with Elizabeth Blewett and relocated to the three-storey 

brick building on the south-west corner of John Street and Market Square. 

On August 30th, 1896, the bank was the site of a spectacular robbery that captured the 

international news media when a total of $32,000 was stolen. Early suspicions were that it was 

an inside job since both the outer and inner vault doors were undamaged, implying that they 

were opened by someone who knew the combinations. William Ponton, a young bank teller with 

political connections, was charged and sent to trial on October 5, 1897. This was a shock as 

people liked him; he was referred to in a newspaper article as a ñprime favouriteò. 

Following a massive manhunt, George Paré, a notorious safe cracker was arrested in Montreal. 

ñBig Billò Holden was apprehended in Boston and the remaining conspirator, Jack Roach, was 

arrested later. Paré and Holden made a daring escape from the County Gaol (now the Lennox & 

Addington County Museum and Archives) but were later found on the run in New Brunswick. 

When Ponton was eventually found innocent, it sparked celebrations in Napanee. 

 

Head up the street and check out the Grange Building. 

 

 

 



4. Grange Building ï Corner of John St and Bridge St 
  

 

Simple proportioning and detailing mark this commercial building as a vernacular Romanesque 

style. Now the law offices of Grange & Grange, this building was built for Harvey Warner, a 

financial dealer, and his half brothers, Clarence, a stock broker and Stanley, a lawyer in 

partnership with W.S. Herrington, the author of the excellent ñHistory of the County of Lennox & 

Addingtonò published in 1913. 

  

Look across the road and you'll see the Old Post Office. 

 

5. Old Post Office 

 

Circa 1888 

The imposing sandstone building on the southeast corner of Bridge Street and John Street was 

built as a post office in 1888. Its unique colour and clock tower make the Old Post Office a 

prominent feature on Greater Napanee's streetscape. 

The building was designed in the Romanesque style by Abraham Fuller, Chief Architect for the 

Department of Public Works and co-designer of the centre block of the Ottawa Parliament 

Buildings. 

The red sandstone for the Napanee Post Office was obtained from quarries on the Rideau 

River, north of Kingston Mills. When construction costs exceeded projections by more than 



40%, the building became a part of national news. A federal investigation in 1891 contributed to 

the resignation of the Minister of Public Works, Sir Hector Langevin. 

F.W. Smith, a jeweler, obtained the Post Office clock from Montreal and climbed the tower stairs 

weekly to keep the clock in good running condition. 

The building continued as a working Post Office until 1969 when it was replaced by a modern 

Post Office on Centre Street, built on the site of the 1915 Armouries. In 1977, the structure was 

one of the first buildings designated by the Town of Napanee under the Ontario Heritage Act. In 

1986, the building was renovated for commercial and residential purposes. 

  

Adjacent to the Old Post Office is Trinity Church. Cross the road to check it out. 

 

6. Trinity Church 
 

 

Napanee's Trinity Church is located at the corner of Bridge Street and John Street on a piece of 

land which was used as a place of Christian Worship by the Wesleyan Methodists since before 

1840. The name has changed over the years to Eastern Methodist, Trinity Methodist, and finally 

Trinity United in 1925 at the time of Union. There have been 4 buildings on the site. The first 

was probably a wooden shed, the second a brick church, and the third a stone building. The 

final building, erected in 1906, still stands today. A major refurbishment of the building, inside 

and out, was initiated in 1988 and completed by the time of Trinity's sesquicentennial year in 

1990. The beautifully decorated interior consists of curved pews, divided by three aisles, sloping 

gently to the corner pulpit. A massive roll-up wall to the right of the pulpit, which seems to 

magically disappear into the ceiling, opens the sanctuary into the balconied multipurpose room 

behind it. 

 

After viewing the beautiful architecture of Trinity Church, head North to the next location, 21 

Thomas St. 



 

7. 21 Thomas St 
 

 

Built for Napanee notary and trustee in bankruptcy, Walter Scott Williams, who was Mayor of 

Napanee in 1877. His home is one of the very few Second Empire structures in Greater 

Napanee and expresses both Mr. Williamsô knowledge of the architecture of larger urban 

centres and his affluence. Important features were the mansard roof, two-storey bay windows 

and dormer windows in the attic. Unfortunately, the windows of the front façade have been 

greatly altered. However, one can view the east wall ground floor bay window to get an idea of 

the original appearance. The front porch is a sympathetic replacement. Not visible from the 

street is a section of the ornate iron fence that once surrounded the property. 

 

Continue North onto John Street to the next location, 225 John St. 

 
8. 225 John St. 

 

This Victorian Gothic style house with ornamental window architraves and finely cut tracery 

framing steep sloped, Gothic pediments, or gables, was built for Thomas S. Carman who 

established the Weekly Express, a Reform newspaper. In 1877, Edward Daly, a tea merchant, 



purchased the house. The veranda, a later addition, illustrates the highly carved columns and 

spool work typical of the Victorian period. 

  

From here, head to the Railway Station. 

 

9. Railway Station 
 

 

Circa 1856 

The Grand Trunk Railway Company of Canada was incorporated to build a railway line between 

Montreal and Toronto in 1852. In 1853, the Grand Trunk merged with five other railways in 

eastern North America. Much of the financing for construction was raised in Great Britain. 

To the disappointment of Bath and Newburgh, Napanee was one of the villages selected to be 

on the GTR line. Locally, David Roblin was awarded a subcontract to build the viaduct at 

Napanee. John Stevenson entered into a contract with Roblin to build the stone piers of the 

viaduct. Built of local limestone, the viaduct was originally a single line. 

The Railway Stations along the line were designed by British railway architect, Francis 

Thompson. The Napanee station was similar to many built along the GTR route. The simple 

proportions and Romanesque style arches reflect the railway's sought after image of 

permanence and stability. The first Grand Trunk train rumbled over the viaduct in October 1856. 

Before the First World War, the Napanee viaduct was modified for double tracking. In 1923, the 

line became part of Canadian National Railways. 

  

Now swing back down South to 212 East St. 

 

 

 



10. 212 East St 
 

 

Designed in the Italian Villa style, this house is distinguished by a squarish tower, paired and 

grouped, semicircular arched windows, and stone quoins, contrasting with the brick at the 

corners. A servantsô wing extends behind. Built for Conrad Huffman, a druggist, this home was 

acquired in 1880 by Hammel Madden Deroche, a member of the Legislative Assembly and later 

Queens Council and County Crown Attorney. An elaborate wrought iron fence once surrounded 

the property. 

  

Proceed just down the road to 193 East St. 

 

11. 193 East St 
 

 

Built for George Mair, a machinist, this house is well proportioned in balanced Georgian style. A 

cast iron balcony over the entry enhances the doorway's detailing. 

  

Turn left onto Thomas St and head to the County Registry Building. 

 

 



12. County Registry 
 

 

Circa 1872 

Built as a Registry Office for the County of Lennox and Addington, the building is Neo-classical 

in style with a balanced facade featuring arcaded, semi-circular brick arched windows set on 

pilastered columns supporting a brick-faced pediment. 

  

Check out the County Museum & Archives located right next door. 

 

13. County Museum & Archives 
 

 

Circa 1864 

Until 1971, the limestone building behind the Court House was the County Jail. Also designed 

by architect John Powers and built by John Forin of Belleville, it had 18 cells. The building was 

surrounded by three court yards with fifteen-foot high walls. It served an early justice system 

which cared for the destitute within its walls, as well as those who had broken the law. 

Originally one of 37 jails which existed in the province by Confederation, the Napanee Jail was 

replaced in 1971 by a regional detention centre serving the counties of Frontenac, Hastings, 

Prince Edward and Lennox & Addington. The old County Jail continued to be used as a 

Napanee Town Police lockup until 1974. 



During 1974, Wilf Sorensen, Kingston's renovation architect, oversaw the transformation of the 

jail to a County Museum and Archives opened in 1976. 

In 2014, to celebrate their 150th anniversary, the County of Lennox & Addington opened a 

modern archives wing and undertook significant upgrades in the original building. Today, the 

Museum & Archives provides insights into the County's ongoing story from its 18th century 

Loyalist beginnings at the end of the American War of Independence. The Allan Macpherson 

House is also an extension of the Museum & Archives. 

  

In front of the Museum is the historic County Court House. 

 

14. County Court House 
 

 

Circa 1864 

Land for a court house at the head of Adelphi Street was donated to the newly independent 

County of Lennox & Addington in 1863 by Sir Richard Cartwright, grandson of Richard 

Cartwright U.E. who purchased the Mills at the Falls in 1793. 

Designed by Kingston architect John Power and built by John Forin of Belleville in the classical 

tradition, the building featured a pillared portico and square lantern tower. The building reflected 

the ambitions of the newly independent County. 

The court room, also used as a Council Chambers, has walls that form gently curved, rather 

than squared corners. A circular rosette in the ceiling originally let light into the chamber from 

the lantern tower. The court room retains the original 1864 benches and raked floor. In this court 

room, the people sat above the judge in the American tradition. 

In 1992, the County of Lennox & Addington undertook an extensive restoration of the court 

house; an addition to the Millennium Wing was added on the north side. Inside, a two-story 

atrium achieves a grand entrance.  



Outside the court room is a display of portraits of County Wardens who have served Lennox & 

Addington from 1864 to the present day. Today the Court House serves both the County of 

Lennox & Addington and the courts. 

  

Head back to East Street and arrive at your next location, 183 East St. 

 
15. 183 East St 

 

 

Built for William Miller, a successful merchant and real estate investor, this house exhibits a 

simplified Classic Revival style. The porch roof is supported by fluted wood columns with cast 

terracotta frieze; the front column caps are missing. A cast iron railing surrounds the balcony, 

and another surrounds the grounds, a common practice until the first World War when a great 

many fine examples were lost in the war effort. Visit the L&A County Museum & Archives to 

view the ornate carved game Gibbard sideboard and the Renaissance Revival style Gibbard 

bed-room set originally purchased for the Miller home. 

  

Your next stop will be 160 East St. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



16. 160 East St 
 

 

Designed in High Styled Italianate, this building displays highly ornate detailing, paired cornice 

brackets and a roof-top belvedere or cupola, typical of this style. Its sister building next door is a 

well-proportioned example of the less ornate Italianate style. Purchased in 1925 by Charles 

Walters, Manager of the Napanee Public Utilities, the house remained in the Walters family for 

seventy years. 

  

262 Camden Rd will be your next destination.  

 

17. 212 Camden Rd 
 

 

East Ward Public School was designed by George Cliff who had designed the West Ward 

Public School on Bridge Street in 1864 (now gone).  

  

Next, you'll visit the historic Allan Macpherson House & Park 

 

 



18. Allan Macpherson House & Park 
 

 

Circa 1826 

Built north of the falls in 1826, the Macpherson House is a gentry-styled house with Neo-

classical elements and balanced Georgian design. The house was built for Allan Macpherson, a 

merchant who leased the grist and saw mills at Napanee from the heirs of Richard Cartwright 

U.E. 

After moving to Napanee in 1818 from Kingston, Macpherson originally lived close to the grist 

mill but also operated a store on the other side of the river in the Mill Reserve. He secured the 

post office appointment in 1820. While in Napanee, he was active in the Lennox Militia, the 

Agricultural Society and securing the Kingston toll road. He also secured a license for a distillery 

Among distinguished guests at the Macpherson residence were Bishop John Strachan and a 

half-cousin, the young John A. Macdonald, later Canada's first Prime Minister. 

In 1848, Macpherson returned to Kingston after securing the Crown Lands Agent appointment. 

His son Donald lived in the house until 1860 and remained in Macpherson hands until 1896. 

In 1962, the Lennox and Addington Historical Society began a visionary project to restore the 

home to its 19th century elegance. The Society operated the house as a living history site until 

2014, when it was gifted to the County of Lennox & Addington to be reunited with the Lennox & 

Addington, Museum & Archives. 

  

Right up the road is your next stop, 161 Camden Road. 

 
 
 
 
 


